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The Story of Otaru

Otaru’s people are central to the story of the city and its transformation from a fishing
village to a major shipping hub and now a national leader in heritage preservation.
Starting with the fishermen who moved to this northern outpost to make their fortunes

from herring in the nineteenth century, Otaru has been driven by a pioneer spirit.

The proletarian writer Kobayashi Takiji (1903—-1933) spent his youth in Otaru and set
his novels and short stories in the city. He described it as “the heart of Hokkaido.”

Kobayashi saw Otaru as the center of Hokkaido’s power, a port from which resources
from the island’s vast interior were shipped throughout Japan and to the world, and a

destination for the steady flow of settlers seeking to begin new lives.

Waves of prosperity

In 1865, Otaru was a fishing village of around 300 households. Fishermen moved to
Otaru from southern Hokkaido, drawn by the large shoals of herring that spawned in the
waters off the coast each spring. Processed into fertilizer for cotton and indigo, much of
the catch was then transported by wooden merchant ships along the Sea of Japan coast

to ports and wholesale markets in southwestern Honshu.

As fishing methods improved, the annual herring catch increased. In 1897, it was close
to 100,000 tons. Sometimes the whole community helped to land the fish on the
beaches. Local accounts from the mid-twentieth century recall days when the herring
catch was so large that schools would close for the day, so that the teachers and parents
of school children could help transport the herring.

Fishing families amassed wealth and built grand mansions in Otaru, furnished with the
latest goods from Osaka, Kyoto, and Tokyo. They frequented luxury restaurants and
fine art stores in the city.



A growing port city

In the late nineteenth century, the Meiji government (1868-1912) resolved to develop
and settle the resource-rich northern island of Hokkaido, and Otaru became a hub of the
new frontier. In 1882, Hokkaido’s first railway opened to transport coal from inland
mines to the port at Otaru, and the coal helped fuel the government’s industrialization

drive.

Between 1869 and 1926, some 2.27 million people from other parts of Japan moved to
Hokkaido to make their fortunes, and many landed at the port of Otaru. Some settled
there, and by 1920 Otaru had grown from a fishing village to a thriving city of over
100,000.

A booming economy

A new trade route to southern Sakhalin opened after the Russo-Japanese War (1904—
1905), further elevating Otaru’s economic importance. Subsequently, branches of
trading companies and banks moved to the city, hotels opened to accommodate

international traders, and Otaru became Hokkaido’s financial center.

Japan’s top architects made the banking district around Ironai Street a showcase for
modern architecture. In the 1930s, the street was lined with an impressive mix of
Renaissance Revival, Art Deco, and early Modernist buildings. The local government
invited Japan’s leading civil engineers to design modern infrastructure for the city,

including breakwaters, waterworks, canals, and public parks that are still in use today.

Turning tides

In the 1960s, the main source of the nation’s energy shifted from coal to oil, and Otaru
lost its status as a major coal shipping port. In the same decade, a plan was proposed to
reclaim the canal that had fallen into disuse, demolish warehouses, and build new roads.
A grassroots citizens’ movement arose to protect the canal, which was seen as a symbol

of the city’s former glory.



After years of debate, the city authorities modified the plan. Part of the canal was
reclaimed in the 1980s, and a promenade was constructed along the remaining section of
the canal to encourage people to return to the area. New businesses opened in the former
warehouses, stores, and banks, and a burgeoning tourism industry developed to sustain
the community and preserve the city’s heritage. The citizen-led movement influenced

other cities across the country to consider how to balance development and preservation.
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The Story of Otaru

Otaru’s people are central to the story of the city and its transformation from a small
fishing village to a major shipping hub and today a national leader in heritage
preservation. Starting with the fishermen who moved to this northern outpost to make
their fortunes from herring in the nineteenth century, Otaru has been driven by a pioneer

spirit.

In the late nineteenth century, the Meiji government (1868-1912) resolved to develop
and settle the resource-rich northern island of Hokkaido, and Otaru became a pulsing
hub of the new frontier. In 1882, Hokkaido’s first railway opened to transport coal from
inland mines to the port at Otaru, and the coal helped fuel the government’s
industrialization drive. Major Japanese banks established branches in the city to cater to
the growing numbers of traders, merchants, and shipping companies. By the 1920s

Otaru was the financial center of Hokkaido.

In the 1960s, the main source for the nation’s energy needs shifted from coal to oil.
Otaru’s financial vigor diminished as a result, and the city lost its status as a coal
shipping port. In the same decade, a plan was proposed to reclaim the canal that had
fallen into disuse, demolish warehouses, and build new roads. A grassroots citizens’
movement arose to protect the canal, and after years of debate the city authorities

modified the plan.

Part of the canal was reclaimed in the 1980s, and a promenade was constructed along
the remaining section. Otaru gained a new identity as a city that successfully preserved
its heritage while repurposing many historical buildings. The citizen-led movement
influenced other cities across the country to consider how to balance development and

preservation.
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The View from Mt. Tengu

Five observation platforms near the peak of Mt. Tengu (532.5 m) afford views of Otaru
and its port. On a clear day, the view extends to Mt. Shokanbetsu (1,491 m) on the far
side of Ishikari Bay. To the west of Mt. Tengu, the mountainous Shakotan Peninsula juts
out into the Sea of Japan. The Otaru Tenguyama Ropeway offers easy access to the

observation decks, reaching the upper slopes of Mt. Tengu in around four minutes.

The city below

The way that Otaru hugs the coastline is apparent in the view from Mt. Tengu. The city
began with a small port that developed around the mouth of the Katsunai River. Later,
when the first railway line opened in the late nineteenth century, the city developed along

the rail line towards the Temiya Coal Pier at the north end of the port.

Traces of the rail line to the coal pier are still visible in parts of the city center. Elegant
banks and hotels built near the canal in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries are

reminders of the city’s prosperity and a testament to residents’ preservation efforts.

The introduction of skiing to Hokkaido

Mt. Tengu is one of Hokkaido’s oldest ski areas and served as the venue for the first All
Japan Ski Championships in 1923. Skiing was introduced to Japan in 1911 when
Lieutenant Colonel Theodor von Lerch (1869-1945) of the Austro-Hungarian Empire
taught the technique to Japan’s 58th Infantry Regiment in Niigata Prefecture. Skiing
arrived in Otaru after a high school teacher learned how to ski in Niigata in 1912 and
brought back skis for his students. That same year, von Lerch skied down Mt. Yotei (1,898
m) in nearby Kutchan, and skiing quickly took off in Hokkaido. Mt. Tengu became a

popular ski area, given its easy access from the city.

Natural features

In early May, a lone cherry tree known as “Tengu Sakura” reaches full bloom near the



summit ropeway station. The tree is a native Ezo Yamazakura (lit. “Hokkaido mountain
cherry”) believed to be over 100 years old. A 1.6-kilometer-long hiking trail loops through
the forest around the mountain summit. White birch, Monarch birch, and Erman’s birch
grow along the trail. In warmer seasons, hikers may see the white-bellied green pigeon
that inhabits the area from spring to autumn. The rare black woodpecker, a protected
species and National Natural Monument, lives in the forests of Mt. Tengu throughout the

year. Ezo red fox and Yezo deer may be spotted in the snow in winter.
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Former Temiya Railway Facility

The Temiya Railway Facility in Otaru was built in the late nineteenth century to house
and maintain Hokkaido’s first locomotives. It is now part of the Otaru Museum and
explains the history of Hokkaido’s early railways through scale models, photographs, and
original rail cars and steam locomotives. Some original features including a locomotive
depot are still in use and are open to the public. Several structures at the facility are

designated Important Cultural Properties.

American railway engineer Joseph Crawford (1842-1924) was hired to develop the
railway from the coal mine at Horonai (present-day Mikasa) to Otaru via Sapporo.
Crawford ordered American-made steam locomotives for the line from H.K. Porter & Co.
in Pennsylvania and passenger cars from Harlan & Hollingsworth in Delaware. The first
section of the line between Temiya and Sapporo opened in 1880, and the full line was
completed in 1882. Several of the engines and carriages that Crawford ordered are

displayed at the facility, along with railway stock from later periods.

Locomotive Depot No. 3

This is the oldest extant brick depot in Japan and was completed in 1885, with bays to
accommodate three locomotives. The depot is both functional and elegant, with
decorative brickwork, a bow roof, arched windows with keystones, and herringbone-

patterned wooden doors.

Engines enter through large wooden doors at the front of the fan-shaped building. Sash
windows on both sides and at the back of the building, and windows above the front doors
provide light for maintenance staff to inspect and repair the locomotives. Clerestory
windows along the roof monitor admit extra light, and the three chimneys on the roof

discharge smoke produced during engine inspection.

Locomotive Depot No. 1



The No 1. depot held five locomotives and was completed in 1908. It currently houses
the oldest working steam locomotive in Hokkaido, known as The Iron Horse (Porter
4514). The two bays on the right side (when viewed from the turntable) are original, but
the three bays on the left were restored in 1996, resulting in a subtle variation in brick
coloration. It has arched windows above the doors, a row of high windows on the front,

and sash windows at the back to provide lighting and ventilation.

Turntable

Since steam locomotives only travel forward, turntables are needed to change direction.
The steel turntable in front of the depots was manufactured by Yokogawa Bridge
Engineering Works in Tokyo in 1919. It was originally manually operated but converted
to compressed air later. It is now used to operate The Iron Horse (Porter 4514), which

makes several runs a day on a section of track on the museum grounds.

Water tank

Steam locomotives consume a large amount of water and fuel (wood or coal). Some haul
a rail vehicle called a tender, containing water and fuel to keep them running over long
distances. The steel tank in the rail yard was built around 1916 to supply water for the
tender. A long spout from the tank filled the tender with water, and the brickwork base

acted as insulation against freezing weather.

Dangerous goods storage
The stone warehouse was built around 1898 for storing flammable goods such as paint

and petroleum. It is one of the few remaining buildings from the nineteenth century.

Retaining wall

To facilitate loading coal onto cargo ships, the Temiya Coal Pier, an elevated pier 313
meters long and 20 meters high was constructed at the port in 1911. Trains accessed the
pier via tracks running along a gradient, which was supported by a brick retaining wall.
Once a coal wagon reached the pier, its load would be emptied via a hatch in the underside

of the wagon, down chutes onto the ship waiting below. Although the pier was dismantled



in 1944, this 85-meter-long section of the retaining wall remains.
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Former Temiya Railway Facility

The Temiya Railway Facility in Otaru was built in the late nineteenth century to house
and maintain Hokkaido’s first locomotives. It is now part of the Otaru Museum and
explains the history of Hokkaido’s early railways through scale models, photographs, and

original rail cars and steam locomotives.

In the late nineteenth century, American railway engineer Joseph Crawford (1842-1924)
was hired to develop a railway line from the coal mine at Horonai (present-day Mikasa)
to Otaru via Sapporo. The first section of the line between Temiya and Sapporo opened

in 1880, and the full line was completed in 1882.

Several structures at the facility are designated Important Cultural Properties. These
include Japan’s oldest surviving brick depot (1885), with bays for three locomotives, and
another brick depot (1908) which houses five. The doors of the depots open to a steel
turntable (1919). The turntable is now used to operate The Iron Horse steam engine, which

makes several runs a day on a section of track on the museum grounds.

Other structures on the grounds include a water tank constructed around 1916 that
supplied steam locomotives, utilizing a gravity-fed system. The stone warehouse was
built around 1898 for storing flammable goods such as paint and petroleum. Part of the
original retaining wall remains for an elevated pier that was constructed at the port in

1911 to facilitate loading coal from the railway into waiting cargo ships.
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Locomotives in the Otaru City Museum Collection

In 1869, the Meiji government invited former samurai families and other people from
around Japan to settle and help develop Hokkaido, an undertaking considered essential to
Japan’s prosperity and defense. Railways contributed to the development of the vast

northern island by facilitating migration and the development of agriculture and mining.

Opening a new frontier

The government brought in experts from the United States who had experience with
similarly harsh environments to develop Japan’s “new frontier.” American railway
engineer Joseph Crawford (1842-1924) established Hokkaido’s first train line between
the newly opened Horonai coal mine in Horonai (present-day Mikasa) and the Temiya
Coal Pier, a loading facility at Otaru Port. The first section opened in 1880 between

Temiya and Sapporo, and the whole line became operational two years later.

American technology

Crawford ordered American-made steam locomotives for the line from H.K. Porter & Co.
in Pennsylvania and passenger cars from Harlan & Hollingsworth in Delaware. The small,
lightweight locomotives (16.5 tons) built by the Porter Company were ideal for
Hokkaido’s early railways which used inexpensive, easy-to-lay narrow gauge rails. The
first two locomotives, which arrived in Hokkaido in 1880, were named Yoshitsune and
Benkei; later engines were named Hirafu, Mitsukuni, Nobuhiro, and Shizuka, all after
historical figures. Shizuka, which arrived in 1885, is housed at Otaru City Museum, with

other historical rolling stock.

Shizuka (7106)

Shizuka was the sixth steam locomotive made for the Horonai Railway in 1884. It has the
classic appearance of an American locomotive of the time: an engine with a bulging
chimney called a diamond stack (to prevent sparks and embers from escaping) and a

wooden “cow catcher” on the front. Shizuka operated in Hokkaido until 1917.



Taisho (7150)

The second steam locomotive made in Japan was named Taisho, meaning “great victory.”
It was modeled after American steam locomotives and manufactured at the Temiya
railway works of the Hokkaido Tanko Railway in 1895. It is the oldest extant domestic-
made steam locomotive in Japan and bears the red polar star that the Hokkaido

Development Commission adopted as a symbol of the frontier at the time.

The Iron Horse (Porter 4514)

The Iron Horse is the oldest working steam locomotive in Hokkaido and was
manufactured in 1909 by the Porter Company. In summer, it makes several round trips a
day for passengers within the museum grounds, running along a single track with a
manual turntable at each end. The museum offers a rare opportunity to see an original

locomotive in operation.

Snowplows

Heavy snowfalls make operating trains in Hokkaido a challenge. In 1881, a snowplow
was made by customizing a regular freight car with metal wedges on the front and rear.
Snowplow locomotives were later imported from the United States to help clear tracks. A
Russell snowplow from 1910 and a rotary snowplow manufactured in 1923 by the

American Locomotive Company of New York are on display.
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Former Temiya Line Walking Path

A 1.6-kilometer walking path follows a section of Hokkaido’s first railway line through
the banking and commercial districts of Otaru to the Former Temiya Railway Facility.
The tracks and some level crossing gates have been preserved. Walking the path affords
a glimpse of what life was like in the old city as it developed as a major trade hub. At
some points, the trains that transported coal and other commodities to the port passed

barely a meter from the front doors of homes.

Hokkaido’s first railway

The Temiya Line was the first section of the Horonai Railway, which opened in 1882 to
connect the new coal mine in Horonai (now Mikasa City) to a coal loading pier at
Temiya in Otaru Port. Steam locomotives transported coal on the Horonai Railway to
Otaru for shipment to the main island of Honshu, and carried goods and passengers

between Otaru and destinations in central Hokkaido.

During the Meiji period (1868-1912), the Japanese government prioritized the
development of Hokkaido as a northern frontier. As part of the policy to modernize the
nation, engineers and agricultural experts were engaged who had experienced the rapid
industrialization following the American Civil War (1861-1865) and who were familiar
with harsh winters like those in Hokkaido. Railway engineer Joseph Crawford (1842—
1924) was hired to develop Hokkaido’s first train lines.

Built for local conditions

Hokkaido railway tracks were built using the same narrow gauge (1,067 mm) rails used
on the main island of Honshu, which were cheaper and easier to lay than the standard
gauge (1,435 mm) rails widely used in Europe. Small, lightweight locomotives (16.5 tons)
and rail cars were custom-built for the railway. The first two engines in Hokkaido were
named Yoshitsune and Benkei, after legendary Japanese warriors of the twelfth century.

One month before the Temiya Line officially opened in 1880, Crawford and his engineers



made a trial run on Benkei. Accounts of the time record the astonishment of the citizens

of Otaru to see a steam locomotive for the first time.

Changing priorities

In the 1880s, the Horonai Railway operated one round trip per day between Temiya and
Sapporo. Passengers paid one yen for a one-way trip, which took three hours. By 1906,
the volume of coal being shipped from Otaru had become so high that passenger services
were suspended to prioritize more lucrative coal transport. In response to campaigning by
residents, an extra track was added in 1912 to accommodate passenger trains. Temiya
Station became freight-only, and a new dedicated passenger station was built a few

hundred meters up the line.

The end of the line

The Temiya section of the Horonai Railway remained a vital link between inland
Hokkaido and Otaru Port until 1985 when service was finally suspended. As the rail
network in Hokkaido developed, passenger trains from Sapporo and Hakodate passed
through the new Otaru Station further inland, while freight and coal continued to use the
Temiya Line, with limited local passenger services. Passenger trains on the Temiya Line

were ultimately discontinued in 1962. Freight services continued to operate on the line

until 1985.

The passenger station platform next to the rail line near the Ironai banking district
remains, waiting for a train that never comes. It is a reminder of the Temiya Line’s

presence in the daily lives of Otaru’s citizens as the port city flourished.
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Former Temiya Line Walking Path: Tracing Otaru's Railway Legacy

A 1.6-kilometer walking path follows a section of Hokkaido’s first railway line through
Otaru’s historic banking and commercial districts to the Temiya Railway Facility. The
preserved tracks and level crossing gates of the discontinued Temiya Line offer a glimpse
into the city’s past as a bustling hub of trade, where trains once rumbled within arm’s
reach of homes. The Temiya Line was the first section of the Horonai Railway, which
opened in 1882 to connect the new coal mine in Horonai (now Mikasa City) to a coal
loading pier at Temiya in Otaru Port.

The Temiya line ran from the Temiya Railway Facility to Otaru Station, which was later
renamed Minami-Otaru Station. Steam locomotives transported coal on the Horonai
Railway to Otaru via Sapporo for shipment to the main island of Honshu, and carried

goods and passengers between Otaru and destinations in central Hokkaido.

Passenger trains made one trip per day between Temiya and Sapporo, and the journey
took three hours. As the rail network in Hokkaido developed, passenger trains from
Sapporo and Hakodate passed through the new Otaru Station further inland. Freight and
coal continued to use the Temiya Line, with limited local passenger services. Passenger
trains on the Temiya Line were ultimately discontinued in 1962, but freight services
continued until 1985. A passenger station platform near the Ironai banking district is a

reminder of the Temiya Line’s integral role in Otaru’s development.
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Otaru Port North Breakwater

A concrete breakwater stretches 1,289 meters across the bay near the former Temiya Coal
Pier. Otaru was the main hub for sea traffic in Hokkaido. It is a deep-water port that is
partially protected by a cape on the north side. By the end of the nineteenth century,
however, as more vessels frequented the port, the storms and rough seas of winter caused
increasing damage to ships and their cargo. In 1897, construction began on the breakwater

to better protect the port.

Taming the waves

Civil engineer Hiroi Isami (1862—-1928) devised a wave power formula to calculate the
optimum height and angle of the barrier and used it to design the breakwater, made up of
blocks weighing between 14 and 24 tons. He determined that stacking the blocks at an
angle to the waves would best reduce the impact of heavy seas. On the surface, the
breakwater appears to be a narrow concrete jetty, 7.3 meters wide. Under the waterline,

blocks stacked like steps on the seaward side break the waves.

In nineteenth-century Japan, breakwaters were often made of large, uncut stones stacked
together without mortar, similar to the construction of defensive castle walls. Using
concrete, Hiroi designed interlocking blocks that could withstand the heaviest seas.
Domestic concrete production was in its early days, and the concrete used a few years
earlier in breakwaters at Sasebo in Nagasaki Prefecture and Yokohama in Kanagawa
Prefecture was already starting to crack. Hiroi came up with the idea that adding volcanic
ash to the concrete mix would increase durability, and he put his idea to the test by making

around 60,000 samples of various compositions.

The father of modern civil engineering
Hiroi was born into a samurai family of the Tosa domain (present-day Kochi Prefecture),
but his family lost their status and income when the samurai class was abolished after the

Tokugawa shogunate fell in 1867. At age 10, Hiroi moved to an uncle’s home in Tokyo



to study, then later moved to the new frontier of Hokkaido and entered Sapporo
Agricultural College at age 15. He was 21 when he visited the United States, first to work

on improvement projects on the Mississippi River, then designing railway bridges.

Hiroi returned to Japan after four years in the United States and two years in Germany.
He worked as a professor at Sapporo Agricultural College for two years, then joined
Tokyo Imperial University (the present-day University of Tokyo) as a lecturer. His
students went on to work on projects around the world, including the construction of the
Panama Canal. During his twenty-year tenure, he donated his time as an advisor on
construction projects across Japan from major bridges to dams and hydroelectric works.
After more than 100 years, the Otaru Port North Breakwater still protects the port from
heavy seas, and Hiroi’s wave force formula remained in use until the 1980s in the design

of ports around the world.
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Otaru Port Museum

Models, materials, and photographs related to the construction of the North Breakwater
and subsequent breakwater projects in Ishikari Bay are on display at the Otaru Port
Museum. The museum is located in the Otaru Port Office, which was established in 1897
as the site office for the construction of the Otaru Port North Breakwater. Construction
began on the breakwater in 1897 under the direction of civil engineer Hiroi Isami (1862—
1928), using the latest machinery from overseas and new materials and techniques

developed by Hiroi.

Hiroi devised a wave power formula to calculate the optimum height and angle of the
breakwater as well as a range of interlocking concrete blocks to suit the wave conditions
and the shape of the seabed. His calculations and designs optimized the performance of
the breakwater while reducing material costs. Scale cross-sectional models of the
breakwater and the concrete blocks, which each weighed between 14 and 24 tons, help

visitors visualize Hiroi’s design.

Photographs of the British-made steam-powered stacking machine that was used to place
the concrete blocks in the sea show the scale of the construction project. The machine,
called Titan, had a lifting capacity of 24 tons and moved on rails that were laid along the
breakwater as construction progressed. With a crew of nine (including two divers to check

the alignment of the blocks underwater), the Titan could install about 16 blocks per day.
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Warehouses in the Kitahama Area

Otaru was already an important port for sea freight and trade in the mid-nineteenth century,
but its economy and population grew rapidly when Hokkaido's first railroad opened in
1882, bringing coal from inland mines to the port. Land reclamation efforts created
additional areas along the coast to accommodate the needs of the expanding port. The
Kitahama district was established on reclaimed land in 1889. Many warehouses were built
in Kitahama, which had convenient access to the waterfront and railroads. A number of
these warehouses were owned by merchant shipowners based in the Hokuriku region of

Honshu which includes the prefectures of Ishikawa, Fukui, Niigata, and Toyama.

Six of the warehouses built by such merchant shipowners remain in the Kitahama area,
near the north end of Otaru Canal. They are built from tuff stone from Otaru and Sapporo,
fixed to a timber framework. The stone served as protection from fires, while the timber

framework was quick and cheap to build.

1. Former Ukon Warehouse

The Ukon Warehouse was built in 1894 for merchant shipowners from Fukui Prefecture.
It is a large gable-roofed warehouse. The Ukon family logo of two parallel black lines
resembling chopsticks, is displayed on the front of the warehouse. The logo was also used
on their store fronts and staff uniforms. The warehouse originally had a monitor roof.
However, in 1924, dynamite being carried to a freight train exploded at Temiya Station,
damaging nearby buildings, including the Ukon Warehouse. The roof was rebuilt, and the

truncated shape of its roofline is a reminder of the incident.

2. Former Hiroumi Warehouse

The Hiroumi Warehouse is a large timber-framed stone warehouse built in 1889. The
Hiroumi family were shipowners from Kaga in Ishikawa Prefecture, who established a
warehouse business in Otaru in 1889. They traded in marine products and co-founded a

marine insurance service with the Ukon family at the end of the nineteenth century. The



warehouse has two large stone arched doorways for loading cargo.

3. Former Masuda Warehouse

The Masuda Warehouse was built in 1903. Like the Hiroumi family, the Masuda family
were shipowners from Kaga. In the 1880s, they operated eight wooden kitamaebune
merchant ships and three European-style sailing vessels. The warehouse is a two-story
stone structure built on a wooden frame, with a gabled roof. Today, these Ukon, Hiroumi,
and Masuda Warehouses are used for storage by the Kitaichi Glass Company, which

operates a retail store and caf¢ in the Kimura Warehouse on Sakaimachi Street.

4. Former Oie Warehouse
The Oie Warehouse has decorative double-arched stonework over the two doors on its
wide front and a monitor roof with windows. It was built in 1891 by the Oie family,

shipowners from Kaga in Ishikawa Prefecture.

5. Former Shibusawa Warehouse

The Shibusawa Warehouse complex is a series of three connected stone buildings dating
from 1895. A large stone structure with a gabled roof set back from the street connects
two smaller buildings in front. The complex was built by the Endo family, but in 1915 it
was purchased by industrialist Shibusawa Eiichi (1840—-1931). Shibusawa is known as
the “Father of Japanese Capitalism” for his work in developing modern businesses in

Japan. The warehouse is currently open as a café.

6. Former Otaru Warehouse

The Otaru Warehouse complex was built in 1890 on newly reclaimed land by Nishitani
Shohachi and Nishide Magozaemon, who were merchant shipowners from Kaga. The
warehouses are built around a courtyard, where cargo was unloaded and processed.

Several of the buildings now serve as the Otaru Museum.
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Warehouses in the Kitahama Area

After Hokkaido’s first railway opened in 1882 to carry coal from inland mines to
Otaru’s ports, the city’s economy and population grew rapidly. Land reclamation efforts
created additional areas along the coast to accommodate the needs of the expanding
port. The Kitahama district was established on reclaimed land in 1889. Many
warehouses were built in Kitahama, which had convenient access to the waterfront and

railroads.

Six stone warehouses built by merchant shipowners remain in Kitahama near the north
end of Otaru Canal. Three warehouses were built near the Temiya Railway Facility by
families from Fukui and Ishikawa Prefectures. These are the Hiroumi Warehouse, built
in 1889; the Ukon Warehouse, built in 1894; and the Masuda Warehouse, built in 1903.

The other three warehouses are close to Chuo Street, about halfway along the canal.
They are the Otaru Warehouse, built in 1890; the Oie Warehouse built in 1891; and the
Shibusawa Warehouse, built in 1895. The warehouses face the canal, where barges
moored to unload merchandise from ships in the harbor. Each warehouse has distinctive
features, from the decorative double-arched stonework over the doors of the Shibusawa
Warehouse to the protective figures of mythical sea creatures on the roof ridges of the
Otaru Warehouse buildings.
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Former Ukon Warehouse

The Ukon Warehouse, built in 1894, is located at the north end of Otaru Canal. It is a
large gable-roofed warehouse, typical of the Kitahama area. The Ukon family were
kitamaebune merchant shipowners from Kono in Fukui Prefecture. The family logo, two
parallel black lines resembling chopsticks, is displayed on the front of the warehouse. The

logo was also used on their store fronts and staff uniforms.

The Ukon family established a base in Otaru in the 1890s, operating warehousing and
fishing businesses. They were one of Japan’s leading shipping agents, and also co-

founded a marine insurance business.

The warehouse originally had a monitor roof, like the Hiroumi Warehouse next to it.
However, in 1924, dynamite being carried to a freight train exploded at Temiya Station,
damaging nearby buildings, including the Ukon warehouse. The roof was rebuilt, and the

truncated shape of its roofline is a reminder of the incident.
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Former Hiroumi Warehouse

The Hiroumi Warehouse is a timber-framed stone warehouse built in 1889. The
warehouse is distinguished by large arched stone doorways on the front and back of the
building for loading cargo. The Hiroumi family were shipowners from Kaga in Ishikawa
Prefecture, who established a warehouse business in Otaru in 1889. They traded in marine
products and co-founded a marine insurance service with the Ukon family at the end of
the nineteenth century. The Hiroumi shipping business was headquartered in Osaka and

operated both wooden kitamaebune sailing ships and steamships made in England.

Like the other warehouses at the northern end of Otaru Canal, the Hiroumi Warchouse
was built on reclaimed land in the Kitahama district. When the warehouse was built, the
harbor was immediately in front of it and Temiya Station only a few hundred meters away,
making it an ideal location for transporting and storing cargo from both land and sea.
More land was reclaimed in front of the warehouses around 1914 when construction

started on Otaru Canal.
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Former Otaru Warehouse

The Otaru Warehouse complex was built in 1890 on newly reclaimed land by Nishitani
Shohachi and Nishide Magozaemon, who were merchant shipowners from Kaga. The

warehouses are built around a courtyard, where cargo was unloaded and processed.

Pairs of ceramic mythical sea creatures (shachihoko) decorate the roof ridge of each
building. Commonly seen on castles, this motif was believed to protect against fire and
was a symbol of wealth. Similar figures also appear on the roof of the Iwanaga Clock

Store on Sakaimachi Street.

Several of the buildings now serve as the Otaru Museum, which traces the city’s history
through scale models, photographs, artworks, and other artifacts. A section of the museum
recreates a typical shopping street in the early nineteenth century, with full-size models
of stores and merchant houses. Other displays focus on the wildlife in the mountains and

forests surrounding Otaru with realistic life-size dioramas.
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Warehouses in Minamihama District

After Hokkaido’s first railway opened in 1882 to carry coal from inland mines to Otaru
for shipping, the economy and population of the city grew rapidly. Land reclamation
efforts created additional areas along the coast to accommodate the needs of the
expanding port. The new districts of Sakaimachi, Ironai, Kitahama, and Minamihama
were established on reclaimed land in 1889, forming the city’s commercial center.
Wholesalers built warehouses and stores on Sakaimachi Street in the Minamihama
district in the early twentieth century, many of which remain.

Some wholesalers made their fortunes by speculating on commodities such as beans

grown in Hokkaido. They bought them cheaply in bulk, then stored them until prices
rose. The former Kimura, Shimatani, and Takahashi Warehouses in the Minamihama
district are reminders of Otaru’s past prosperity and symbols of the city’s recent

economic revival.

Former Kimura Warehouse

The Kimura Warehouse was built in 1894 and is the only remaining warehouse of nine
owned by the Kimura family. It was first used to store fertilizer made from herring
caught in the waters off Otaru. The fertilizer was then shipped to the indigo and cotton
fields of southwestern Honshu. The warehouse retains many of its original features,
including a stone corridor with rails for guiding hand carts from the port into the
warehouse. After the herring industry collapsed in the mid-twentieth century due to
overfishing, the warehouse was used to store dry goods. Otaru’s position as a major port
gradually diminished and by the 1960s the Kimura Warehouse, like many other
warehouses and stores in the area, was left empty. The warehouse was renovated by
Kitaichi Glass in 1983 to serve as a retail store and restaurant. After the successful
restoration and repurposing of the historical building, other businesses opened in former
warehouses along Sakaimachi Street and around the canal, creating an attractive

shopping area.



Former Shimatani Warehouse

The Shimatani Warehouse was built in 1892 for steamship company Shimatani Kisen. It
Is built of volcanic tuff fixed to a wooden frame. The stone is around 15 centimeters
thick and, along with the metal door and metal shutters on the small upper windows, it
protected the contents from fire. Between 1880 and 1910, there were 16 large fires in
Otaru. These devastated the wooden buildings but caused minimal damage to the
Shimatani Warehouse and the other stone-clad warehouses around the city. The

warehouse is now open to the public as a cafe.

Former Takahashi Warehouse

The Takahashi Warehouse was built in 1923 by the Takahashi family, who sold rice and
seafood and produced miso and soy sauce. The family became wealthy through
commodity speculation in the early twentieth century, buying up adzuki beans and
storing them until the price rose to sell for a profit. In 1989, the warehouse was
renovated and opened as a stained glass museum, exhibiting stained glass windows
recovered from churches in England and Europe.
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Former Kimura Warehouse

The Kimura family built their warehouse in 1894 to store fertilizer made from herring
caught in the waters off Otaru. The fertilizer was then shipped to the indigo and cotton
fields of southwestern Honshu. It is the only remaining warehouse of nine that belonged
to the family and is one of the largest warehouses on Sakaimachi Street, which was the
trade and retail center of the city until the mid-twentieth century. The building was
renovated in 1983 by Kitaichi Glass as a retail store and restaurant. After the successful
restoration and repurposing of the historical building, other businesses opened in former
warehouses along Sakaimachi Street and around the canal, creating an attractive shopping

arca.

Built to last

Sakaimachi Street was built on reclaimed land, and the warehouses on the port side of the
street were close to the water’s edge. Fertilizer was unloaded from ships in front of the
Kimura warehouse and transported by wheeled handcarts, guided on rails. A stone
corridor with cart rails still divides the warehouse building into two parts. After the
herring industry collapsed in the mid-twentieth century due to overfishing, the warehouse
was used to store dry goods. When Otaru’s position as a major seaport diminished in the
1960s, it was left empty, along with many other warehouses on the street. The Kimura
Warehouse was built of volcanic stone on a frame of Sakhalin fir and Ezo spruce, with

cypress floors. The building has remained in good condition for over a century.

Otaru’s glass heritage

Kitaichi Glass has deep roots in Otaru, opening in 1901 as Asahara Glass. The company
made hand-blown glass oil lamps at a time when electricity was not yet common and oil
lamps were a necessity of daily life. Asahara Glass later manufactured glass floats for
herring fishing nets. By the 1920s, the company had around 400 employees, and was one
of the largest glass makers in Hokkaido. As electricity and plastics became widespread,

the demand for glass lamps and floats diminished, and by 1960, Asahara Glass was the



only remaining glass manufacturer in Otaru.

In 1971, the sales department was renamed Kitaichi Glass, and the company began
manufacturing and selling lamps as nostalgic mementos, alongside other glass products.
The lamps remain a popular souvenir of Otaru. The entrance hall of Otaru Station is lit
with glass lamps from Kitaichi Glass, using electric bulbs in place of oil. The Kitaichi
Hall restaurant occupies half the former warehouse and is illuminated by 167 glass oil

lamps that are lit by hand each morning.
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Former Shimatani Warehouse

The Former Shimatani Warehouse was built in 1892 for storing rice and is now open to
the public as a café. The Shimatani family were kitamaebune merchant shipowners from
Yamaguchi Prefecture, mainly trading rice. They were quick to adapt to changing times,

transitioning to steamships in 1895 and transporting goods for other merchants.

The building is one of around 350 timber-framed stone warehouses in Otaru. Timber-
framed warehouses could be built more quickly and economically than all-stone buildings,
and the style became common in Japanese port towns. Many of the warehouses built in
Otaru in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries share the same timber frame and

stone construction, using blocks of locally quarried tuff, each around 15 centimeters thick.

The thickness of the stone gives the building structural integrity and protects the contents
from cold and fire. Between 1880 and 1910, there were around 16 large fires in Otaru.
Over 2,000 houses were damaged in one that broke out a few blocks south of Otaru

Station in 1902, but the stone-clad warehouses were relatively unscathed.
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Former Takahashi Warehouse

The Takahashi Warehouse was built in 1923 to store goods for wholesale trade. In
1989, the building was renovated and opened as a stained glass museum, exhibiting
stained glass windows recovered from churches in England and Europe. Most of the

windows on display date from the early twentieth century.

Takahashi Naoji (1856-1926) was 18 years old when he came to Otaru from his
hometown in Niigata. He worked as a clerk at a dry goods store for three years to learn
the trade before establishing his own business. He began brewing miso and soy sauce
and set up a business with his younger brother in 1899, handling consignment sales of

rice, miso, soy sauce, and marine products.

The Takahashis became wealthy in the early twentieth century through commodity
speculation, buying up beans and grains cheaply and storing them until the price rose to
sell for a profit. When the war in Europe in 1914 affected the export of beans from
major European producers such as Romania and Hungary, Otaru merchants including
the Takahashi family took advantage of the situation. Takahashi Naoji bought up much
of Hokkaido’s adzuki bean harvest for one season and negotiated with one of Japan’s
largest shipping companies, Nippon Yusen Kaisha (now known as NYK Line), to ship
directly to a trading company in London. Takahashi Naoji was known as the “Adzuki
Shogun” when he later entered politics—though it is believed he came up with this

name himself.
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The Tanaka Sake Brewery and the Former Okazaki Warehouses

The Tanaka Sake Brewery was one of 50 sake breweries in Otaru when it was founded
in 1899. Today, Tanaka is the only remaining sake brewery in the city. Under the
wartime regime in 1944, sake brewing in Otaru was consolidated under a single entity
to control supply and pricing, and the Tanaka Sake Brewery operated as a retail-only
business. In 1996 Tanaka Sake Brewery bought the Okazaki Warehouses and resumed

brewing.

Sake brewing is typically conducted in winter when it is easier to control the
fermentation temperature and avoid bacterial contamination. However, with Otaru’s
cool, dry climate and improvements in brewing technology, the Tanaka Sake Brewery
has been able to brew sake year-round. Visitors can observe the process regardless of
the season and taste fresh, unpasteurized sake throughout the year. Most of the sake is

sold locally.

Tanaka Sake is brewed with spring water from Mt. Tengu in Otaru, drawn from a well
next to the brewery. All the rice used in the brewing process is grown in Hokkaido.

Tours of the brewery are free and do not require prior reservations for groups of fewer
than 10 people. Tastings are available of sake, fruit liqueurs, and non-alcoholic drinks

such as amazake, a sweetened fermented rice drink.

The brewery operates out of the Okazaki Warehouses in three stone buildings connected
by wooden corridors. The warehouses were built south of the city center between 1902
and 1905 by the Okazaki family. They started their business making miso and soy sauce
before selling rice and general merchandise, and warehousing goods for other

merchants.
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Former Otaru Branch of Nippon Yusen

The stately Nippon Yusen building at the northern end of Otaru Canal is a reminder of the
prosperity of the city in its heyday. It was completed in 1906 for Nippon Yusen Kaisha
(now known as NYK Line), one of Japan’s largest shipping companies. At the time,
Japan’s leading architects were designing the city’s buildings, using the finest materials

and cutting-edge technology.

The Nippon Yusen building and its adjacent stone warehouse were designed by Satachi
Shichijiro (1856-1922). Satachi was one of the first students of British architect Josiah
Conder (1852-1920) at the present-day University of Tokyo. His design embodies the
Renaissance Revival style that was popular in Europe. The building’s symmetrical layout,
mansard roof, dormer windows, and incorporation of stone for both structural and

ornamental purposes are typical of the style.

The building incorporates the latest innovations from overseas to counter Hokkaido’s
cold winters, including steel shutters from the United States, a boiler room in the
basement for steam heating, and double-glazed windows. Much of the first floor is an
open-plan space where administrative employees managed cargo shipments and staffed
the high wooden counters where passengers could purchase ship tickets. At the time,
Nippon Yusen had a fleet of around 58 steamships taking goods and passengers to ports

in China, Europe, India, the United States, and Australia.

On the second floor, a conference room and private lounge include parquet floors and
decorative plaster moldings, and the walls are papered with kinkarakami, gilded and

embossed Japanese paper that resembles European gilt leather.
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Bank of Japan Otaru Museum

The Bank of Japan’s Otaru Branch was designed to reflect the wealth of the city and the
financial power of the national bank. By the mid-1920s, some twenty-five banks were
operating in Otaru, compared with thirteen banks in Hokkaido’s capital, Sapporo. Otaru
was the gateway to Hokkaido in the late nineteenth century; goods and settlers arrived
through the port, and commodities such as grain were shipped to various destinations in
Honshu, as well as Russia and Europe. The banks facilitated financial transactions and

international currency exchange, for the growing port city.

Currency reform

Under the regime of the Tokugawa shoguns (1603—1867), gold and silver coinage was
used for international trade. Unequal trade treaties between the shogunate and foreign
powers in the mid-nineteenth century undervalued Japanese currency and large quantities
of gold were taken out of the country as a result. In response, the Bank of Japan was
founded in 1882 to issue banknotes and reform Japan’s monetary and financial systems.
It came a year after the Meiji government (1868—1912) introduced the yen as the official

currency.

In 1885, the Bank of Japan issued its first notes, which were guaranteed in exchange for
silver. Then, in 1887, Japan followed many Western countries in adopting gold as the
standard for its currency. A branch of the Bank of Japan opened in Otaru in 1893 to
facilitate financial transactions in Hokkaido. As well as handling the storage, receipt, and
circulation of treasury funds, the Otaru Branch, as it became known, purchased gold

panned in Hokkaido to build up its gold reserves.

Symbols of success

A new building for the Bank of Japan in Otaru was constructed over three years from
1909 to 1912. It was designed in the Renaissance Revival style by Tatsuno Kingo (1854—
1919), and his protégé Nagano Uheiji (1867—1937). Tatsuno was one of Japan’s most



famous architects at the time and is best remembered for designing the Bank of Japan
Head Office (1896) in Tokyo’s Nihonbashi and the red brick Marunouchi building of
Tokyo Station (1914). He was one of the first students of British architect Josiah Conder
(1852-1920) at the Imperial College of Engineering (now the Faculty of Engineering at
the University of Tokyo).

The two-story Otaru Branch building used new construction methods, including a steel-
frame structure and concrete-coated floors and roof for fire prevention. Steel roof trusses
made it possible to create a large open space for the banking hall without support pillars.
A mezzanine gallery overlooks the banking hall, allowing bank managers to observe the
activity below. Throughout the interior, Tatsuno incorporated the symbol of the Bank of
Japan—a stylized yen motif. The circular design is printed on Japanese banknotes to this

day.

The building’s brickwork exterior is covered with cement to resemble stone and protect
the bricks from rain and snow. The building has four domes along the roof on the north

side, and a four-story watchtower overlooking Otaru Port on its southeast corner.

In operation until 2002, the bank was restored and opened to the public as the Bank of
Japan Otaru Museum in 2003. Exhibits include scale models of Otaru’s financial district

and the original bank vault. Admission is free.
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Bank of Japan Otaru Museum

The Bank of Japan’s Otaru Branch building was completed in 1912 by one of Japan’s
leading architects with ornate details and construction methods new at the time. The
building was designed to reflect Otaru’s financial power in the early twentieth century
and is now open as a museum. Photographs and scale models explain the history of

Japan’s currency system and Otaru’s economic growth.

The elegant Renaissance Revival building was designed by renowned architect Tatsuno
Kingo (1854-1919) and his protégé Nagano Uheiji (1867—1937). Tatsuno was one of
Japan’s most famous architects at the time and is best remembered for designing the Bank
of Japan Head Office (1896) in Tokyo’s Nihonbashi and the red brick Marunouchi
building of Tokyo Station (1914).

The symbol of the Bank of Japan, a stylized yen motif, is repeated throughout the interior
in plaster moldings. The motif'is printed on Japanese banknotes to this day. The building’s
brickwork exterior is covered with cement to resemble stone and protect the bricks from
rain and snow. The building has four domes along the roof on the north side, and a four-
story watchtower overlooking Otaru Port on its southeast corner. Entry to the museum is

free.

BARITIBIVESZE

BARBRITIMESTEDRIEEARZNERIDZERD— ACLOT. ERIMEPE SO T
ET 1912 FISSERULELR. COEYIE 20 tHFCHIERO/IMEDERIN ZRIRT DLI5%5TS
N, IRFETREMEEELTA-TILTVET . BEVIERREZEBL TAHADEEHIEL/IMBO
B RZIZATVEY,

TUAYMRIILVRYSS R UL ORIE R BEERRETEE (1854 F-1919 £F)
LREDBEF THHIRFFIIR (1867 £-1937 ) ([CLOTERETENFLUL, REFGHEFAR
TRUERBEERO—ATHD. RRAXBOAFKIRITAIE (1896 F) PIRLUHDERR



ERILOABRE (1914 F) DFEETTEHNBNTVET .

BRMEENEHOEF—ITHZARBITOS VRILNMEEDTS TARERMERINTVET,
COEF-IJRFSHETHAORECEIRMEINTOEY . Z¥MOL > HEDOIMRF AR X
hTEEOHNTHED. MPENSLOHZRELTVET . JLRIORIRITEOZ 4 DOR—ALFE
DARMIMEEZRIEE? 4 BETCOLEREZMATVET . BYIEEAOAZ(SER T,



001-024

Former Otaru Branch of Mitsui Bank

The Otaru Branch of Mitsui Bank was built in 1927 and operated until 2002. The building
was restored and reopened as a museum in 2016. Parts of the bank that were once off-
limits to the public are now accessible and exhibits in the open-plan banking hall trace

the development of the Ironai banking district.

The building was designed in 1927 by Sone Tatsuzo (1853-1937) in the Italian
Renaissance Revival style, inspired by the opulent merchant houses of fourteenth- and
fifteenth-century Italy. Sone designed the building with a steel frame and reinforced
concrete structure, based on lessons learned from the Great Kanto Earthquake of 1923.
The exterior is covered in a layer of granite to resemble solid stone and decorated with
Greco-Roman motifs. This building was a symbol of Otaru’s financial vigor in the early

twentieth century when it was one of twenty-five banks in the city.

Wealth and innovation

Above the banking hall were offices and three reception rooms for important clients. One
room remains much as it was in 1927, with decorative wallpaper, velvet curtains, and
velvet-upholstered couches. Glass jars on a shelf display samples of the commodities
once traded through Otaru, including herring-based fertilizer, beans, and flax. The

samples date from the 1940s.

In the basement is a walk-in vault with safety deposit boxes for customers. It is
surrounded by a tiled corridor with a channel to drain the condensation which formed on

the cool basement walls in summer.

Otaru’s financial district evolves
Mitsui Bank opened an Otaru branch in 1880 near the newly built Kaiuncho Station (later
named Minami-Otaru Station). This southern part of the city was the commercial center

until 1881, when a fire destroyed most of the buildings, including the bank and the train



station. Most businesses moved further north, closer to the port. From 1887, banks and
trading houses were established in the Ironai district, close to the new commercial center.
When Mitsui Bank relocated to Ironai Street in 1898, it was one of ten banks in the area.

By 1926 there were twenty-five banks in Otaru.

From the kimono trade to a banking powerhouse

Mitsui Bank was established in Tokyo in 1876 as Japan’s first private bank. The Mitsui
family started dealing in kimonos in 1673 before launching a money exchange business.
Mitsui Bank handled the government funds for the development of Hokkaido until 1882,
when the Bank of Japan was established. In the late twentieth century, Mitsui Bank
merged with several others and now operates as Mitsui Sumitomo Banking Corporation.
The Otaru Branch of Mitsui Bank is a National Important Cultural Property and is part of
Otaru Art Base, five historical buildings that are open to the public as museums and art

galleries.
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Former Otaru Branch of Mitsui Bank

The Otaru Branch of Mitsui Bank was built in 1927 and operated until 2002. The building
was restored and reopened as a museum in 2016. Visitors can see parts of the bank that
were once off-limits to the public and learn about the development of the Ironai banking

district from the early twentieth century, through exhibits in the open-plan banking hall.

In the basement is a walk-in vault with safety deposit boxes for customers. It is
surrounded by a tiled corridor with a channel to drain the condensation which formed on

the cool basement walls in summer.

The building was designed by architect Sone Tatsuzo (1853-1937) in the Italian
Renaissance Revival style, inspired by the opulent merchant buildings of fourteenth- and
fifteenth-century Italy. Sone designed the building with a steel frame and reinforced

concrete structure, based on lessons learned from the Great Kanto Earthquake of 1923.

The Otaru branch was a symbol of the city’s financial vigor in the early twentieth century
when Mitsui was one of twenty-five banks in Otaru. Sone was a classmate of Tatsuno
Kingo (1854-1919), who designed the Bank of Japan Otaru Branch in 1912. The Mitsui
Bank Otaru Branch building is part of Otaru Art Base, five historical structures that are

open to the public as museums and art galleries.
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From Prosperity to Preservation: Otaru’s Ironai Banking District

The view along Nichigin Street from the intersection with Ironai Street reveals the history
of'a modern city. In a radius of some 500 meters, the buildings of the distinguished banks
that made Otaru the economic center of the north are eminent examples of modern
Japanese architecture. Ten of the original twenty-five bank buildings remain, some

designed by the leading Japanese architects of the early twentieth century.

A new financial frontier

The first financial institutions in Otaru were moneylenders and pawnbrokers that catered
to the influx of fishermen and fortune seekers during the “herring gold rush” of the late
nineteenth century. By 1897, the annual herring catch in Otaru was close to 90,000 tons,
and the city’s population grew from about 2,000 at the beginning of the Meiji era (1868—
1912), to over 100,000 in the 1920s. This rapid growth created a need for larger,

government-regulated banks.

Mitsui Bank was the first to arrive in Hokkaido, setting up a branch in Hakodate in 1876
and another in Otaru in 1880. The bank handled the government funds for the
development of Hokkaido until 1882, when the Bank of Japan was established. Early
banks contributed to Otaru’s fledgling economy by offering loans at lower interest rates
than the moneylenders, issuing checks with a value equivalent to paper money, and

offering currency exchange services to international traders.

A showcase for Japan’s modern architecture

The number of banks increased rapidly from three in 1887 to ten in 1897 and twenty-five
by the mid-1920s, making Otaru the financial center of Hokkaido. The earliest extant
bank building is the Dai-hyakujusan National Bank Otaru Branch, which was completed
in 1893 on Sakaimachi Street. It is a rare surviving example of a warehouse-style bank,

fusing Japanese and European styles.



At the beginning of the twentieth century, Japanese banks adopted classical European
architectural styles to express wealth, integrity, and stability. As the Meiji government
studied monetary and financial systems overseas, Japan’s leading architects also looked
to Europe and America for inspiration. Four of the most prominent architects of the early
twentieth century studied under British architect Josiah Conder (1852—-1920) at the
present-day University of Tokyo. They went on to build the Bank of Japan’s Otaru Branch
(1912) on Nichigin Street and the Otaru Branch of Mitsui Bank (1927) on Ironai Street.

In contrast to earlier bank buildings, those built in the 1920s—such as the Otaru branches
of Hokkaido Takushoku Bank (1923), Mitsubishi Bank (1924), and Dai Ichi Bank
(1924)—feature smooth facades with simple columns and minimal surface decorations.
They are typical examples of the restrained neoclassical style then popular in Europe and

America for civic buildings and institutions.

The financial downturn that saved a historical streetscape

Many of the original bank buildings in Otaru have survived due to a number of
environmental and historical factors. There has been a relative absence of earthquakes
throughout the city’s history, and during World War 11, the city suffered no major damage

from air raids.

The city’s financial decline also contributed to their preservation. In the mid-twentieth
century as the main source for the nation’s energy needs shifted from coal to oil, Otaru
lost its status as a coal shipping port. Many financial institutions and trading companies
subsequently withdrew from Otaru in the 1960s, leaving their stately buildings vacant.
Had the economy continued to flourish, they might have been replaced with new
buildings in more contemporary styles. In a way, Otaru’s financial decline saved the banks

of the Ironai district.
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The Ironai Banking District

The view along Nichigin Street from the intersection with Ironai Street reveals the history
of'a modern city. In a radius of some 500 meters, the buildings of the distinguished banks
that made Otaru the economic center of the north are eminent examples of modern
Japanese architecture. Ten of the original twenty-five bank buildings remain, some

designed by the leading Japanese architects of the early twentieth century.

The first banks and warehouses were established around Minami Otaru, but after the area
was almost completely destroyed by a fire in 1881, the commercial center was moved
north to the Ironai district, where it remains today. The district is like a museum of modern
architecture, lined with banks and trading houses from the late nineteenth to mid-

twentieth centuries.

Banks adopted classical architectural styles to express wealth, integrity, and stability.
Architects looked to Europe and America for inspiration: the Bank of Japan’s Otaru
Branch (1912) was designed in the Renaissance Revival style by Tatsuno Kingo (1854—
1919) and his protégé Nagano Uheiji (1867—1937). It incorporates Baroque elements,
such as decorative masonry and turrets. The Otaru Branch of Mitsui Bank (1927) was

designed in the simpler Italian Renaissance Revival style by Sone Tatsuzo (1853—-1937).

In the mid-twentieth century, Otaru’s financial vigor diminished as the main source for
the nation’s energy needs shifted from coal to oil, and the city lost its status as a coal
shipping port. Many banks withdrew from Otaru, leaving their stately buildings vacant,

until they were restored as museums and other facilities.
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Former Hokkaido Takushoku Bank, Otaru Branch

The Nitori Museum of Art opened in 2017 in the former Hokkaido Takushoku Bank’s
Otaru Branch. The Takushoku Bank branch was built in 1923 at the height of Otaru’s
economic prosperity, the same year Otaru Canal was completed. It was one of the
largest buildings in Hokkaido at the time, with a bank and rental offices filling four

floors, and a basement with a vault.

The bank relocated in 1969 as Otaru’s economic vigor diminished, and the building sat
empty until it was reopened as a hotel in 1989. The property underwent several changes
of ownership before being converted into an art museum. There are around 300
artworks on display over the four floors and the basement. The collection focuses on
artists active when Otaru was at the peak of its prosperity, including modern Japanese
paintings (nihonga) by Yokoyama Taikan (1868-1958) and Kawai Gyokudo (1873-
1957), and Western-style paintings by Kishida Ryusei (1891-1929). The basement is

used for special exhibitions.

The former first-floor sales area is a large open-plan space with six Grecian-style
columns. The marble floor is inlaid with motifs representing Otaru’s history as a port
city—the decorative floor dates to 1989, when the building was a hotel. The first floor
now holds a collection of stained glass windows by Louis Comfort Tiffany (1848—
1933), made for St. John’s Episcopal Church in New Jersey in 1915 and salvaged when
the church closed in the 1990s. The windows are backlit so that viewers can appreciate

the opalescent effects that Tiffany captured in his glasswork.
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The Historical Streetscapes of Sakaimachi and Ironai

A large number of merchant houses, warehouses, and banks from the late nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries have been preserved on Sakaimachi and Ironai Streets, making
them popular destinations for shopping and sightseeing. Rickshaws carry visitors around

the area as they did over a century ago at the peak of Otaru’s prosperity.

On the waterfront

Otaru’s rise to financial power began with herring fishing. Herring was made into a
valuable fertilizer that was shipped to southwestern Honshu for use in cotton and indigo
fields. In the late nineteenth century, the annual herring catch was close to 90,000 tons,
and Otaru expanded rapidly as the “herring gold rush” brought wealth and an influx of

new businesses.

Although Otaru had a deep harbor suitable for shipping, the city’s mountainous terrain
meant there was very little flat land suitable for building the necessary infrastructure.
Land reclamation efforts created additional areas along the coast to accommodate the
needs of the expanding port. The new districts of Sakaimachi, Ironai, Kitahama, and
Minamihama were established on reclaimed land in 1889, forming the city’s commercial

center. At the time, Sakaimachi Street was right on the waterfront.

Before work began on Otaru Canal in 1914, merchants built their stores and warehouses
along Sakaimachi Street for access to the water. Barges ferrying goods from ships in the
harbor could moor directly in front of the warehouses. Wholesalers opened, dealing in

sugar, cotton, rice, and other commodities.

A prosperous, modern city
Sakaimachi Street developed as a wholesale and shopping district. Photographs of Otaru
from the early twentieth century show a mix of bankers and retail staff wearing suits and

customers in kimonos, along with horse carts, rickshaws, and the occasional automobile.



A brass band was employed to perform on the balcony of the Iwanaga Clock Store to

attract customers, adding to the street’s lively atmosphere.

To the north of the Myoken River, Sakaimachi Street becomes Ironai Street. Banks and
trading companies opened along Ironai Street, and it became the city’s banking district.
The number of banks increased rapidly, from three in 1887 to sixteen in 1907. The Bank
of Japan Otaru Branch opened in 1912, cementing Otaru’s position as Hokkaido’s

economic center.

Challenging times

By the mid-twentieth century, Otaru’s economy was in decline. Other ports on
Hokkaido’s east coast offered more convenient shipping routes to Tokyo, and the the main
source for the nation’s energy needs switched from coal, once shipped from Otaru, to oil.
Many banks moved to Sapporo, which was established as the administrative capital of
Hokkaido in 1886, and shoppers took advantage of improved rail connections to visit the
large department stores in the capital. The crowds that once thronged Sakaimachi Street

dwindled, and by the 1960s, many warehouses, stores, and banks stood empty.

Saving Otaru’s history and reviving the city’s fortunes

In the 1960s, the local government proposed to fill in Otaru Canal to build a new six-lane
roadway. The proposal led to community efforts to save the canal, and these marked the
beginning of a preservation movement to revitalize Otaru’s historical downtown. In the
1980s, the two sides reached a compromise, and part of the canal was saved. It was
revived as an attractive strolling area with paved walkways, streetlamps, and decorative
bridges. The large Kimura Warehouse was renovated in 1983 by Kitaichi Glass as a retail
store and restaurant, drawing visitors. This success inspired other businesses to move into
the warehouses along Sakaimachi Street and around Otaru Canal, creating an attractive
shopping area. Today, the Arata Trading Company shipping offices and the Takahashi
Warehouse, which once stored adzuki beans, are part of Otaru Art Base, five historical
buildings that are open to the public as museums and art galleries. The grand two-story

brick offices of the Kyosei Company, once one of Hokkaido’s leading rice mills and grain



merchants, have been restored as a music box emporium.

The old Etchuya Hotel, built on Ironai Street in 1931 as a hotel for international traders,
has been restored and reopened as the Unwind Hotel, and the nearby Chamber of
Commerce Building is now an annex of the OMOS5 Hotel. Several former banks are open
to the public as museums. Some are part of Otaru Art Base. The historical appeal of these

once-empty buildings has played a large part in the city’s economic revival.
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The Historical Streetscapes of Sakaimachi and Ironai

Numerous merchant houses, warehouses, and banks from the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries are preserved on Sakaimachi and Ironai Streets. These districts, once
the hub of banking and warehousing, are now popular destinations for shopping and

sightseeing.

Although Otaru had a deep harbor suitable for shipping, The city’s mountainous terrain
left little flat land suitable for building. Land reclamation efforts created additional areas
along the coast to accommodate the needs of the expanding port. The new districts of
Sakaimachi, Ironai, Kitahama, and Minamihama were established on reclaimed land in
1889, forming the city’s commercial center. At the time, Sakaimachi Street passed along
the waterfront, and merchants built stores and warehouses along the street for convenient
cargo transfer. By the end of the nineteenth century, the economy in Otaru was booming,

and Sakaimachi Street was the commercial center of the city.

Some 25 banks, along with trading companies, opened around Ironai Street, and it became
the city’s banking district. In the early twentieth century, Otaru was Hokkaido’s economic
center. By the mid-twentieth century, however, Otaru’s economy declined as other ports
on Hokkaido’s eastern coast offered more convenient shipping routes to Tokyo. Banks

and larger stores moved to Sapporo, and their buildings in Otaru stood empty.

In the late 1970s, a preservation movement took shape to revitalize Otaru’s historical
downtown. Over time the area was revitalized, and businesses began opening in the
former warehouses. The large Kimura Warehouse was renovated in 1983 by Kitaichi
Glass as a retail store and restaurant, drawing visitors. More businesses moved into the
historical buildings to create an attractive shopping area. Several former banks are now
open to the public as museums and art galleries. The historical appeal of these once-empty

buildings played a large part in the city’s economic revival.
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Former Iwanaga Clock Store

Five generations of the Iwanaga family sold watches and clocks from an elegant two-
story stone building on Sakaimachi Street in Otaru’s old shopping district. The Iwanaga
Clock Store dates from the early twentieth century. It stands out among the other buildings
on the street for its ornate details and large balcony on the second floor. Photographs from
the early twentieth century show the balcony being used as a stage for regular
performances by a brass band employed by the store. The band performed in striking red

and white uniforms, likely to attract customers.

Like many of the warehouses and stores built in Otaru in the early twentieth century, the
Iwanaga Clock Store was constructed with a timber framework clad with volcanic stone.
However, design elements drawn from both Edo-period (1603—1867) merchant houses
and European architecture add a sense of affluence. Pairs of ceramic mythical sea
creatures (shachihoko) decorate the roof ridge of each building. Commonly seen on
castles, this motif was believed to protect against fire and was a symbol of wealth. The
arched French doors with decorative masonry on the second floor and the stone columns
topped with stylized foliage are typical of the Renaissance Revival style that was
fashionable in Europe and the United States in the 1890s.

Currently, the property is occupied by the Otaru Music Box Store Sakaimachi, but the
Iwanaga family still runs a business selling timepieces and jewelry on Miyako Street, a

few blocks away.
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Former Kaneko Motosaburo Store

The Kaneko Motosaburo Store was built around 1895 after the previous store building
burned down. The sturdy stone construction and fireproof features indicate the
importance that local merchants and traders placed on protecting their merchandise.
Kaneko Motosaburo (1869-1952) was a prominent trader who sold marine products on
consignment and moved into shipping, farming, and other fields of business. He was
elected the first head of Otaru Ward in 1891 and went on to a career in politics at the
local and prefectural level.

The store is one of five along Sakaimachi Street that has udatsu firewalls at the front of
the building. These stone walls, capped with roof tiles, were designed to prevent fire
from spreading from one property to the next in cities where buildings were built close
together. The second floor of the building was used for storing merchandise, and its
windows were protected by fireproof plastered shutters. The building is a typical
example of a Meiji-era (1868-1912) store in Otaru. Today, the building is occupied by

an accessories store.
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Tanaka Sake Brewery Main Store

The Tanaka Sake Brewery was one of 50 sake breweries in Otaru when it was founded
in 1899. Today, Tanaka is the only remaining sake brewery in the city. The Tanaka
Sake Brewery Main Store opened on the site of the original brewery in 1927. The
wooden building is typical of stores built in Otaru in the early twentieth century, with

long eaves to protect customers and the shopfront from snow in winter.

Many of the original hand-carved wooden signs have been preserved, including the
original shop sign and advertisements for various brews from the early twentieth century.
Under the wartime regime in 1944, sake brewing in Otaru was consolidated under a single
entity to control supply and pricing, and Tanaka Sake Brewery operated as a retail-only
business. In 1996, Tanaka Sake Brewery purchased the Okazaki Warehouses, three stone
buildings to the south of Otaru’s commercial center and resumed brewing. Tanaka Sake
is brewed with spring water from Mt. Tengu in Otaru and rice grown in Hokkaido. Free

sake tasting is provided at the main store and in the brewery.
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Former Arata Trading Company

The office of the Arata Trading Company was constructed in 1935 in Art Deco style.
Symmetrical bands of white stone emphasize the clean lines of the square two-story
building. The arched stone entrance is the only departure from the strict linear design.

The building is connected to the Takahashi and Shimatani Warehouses by a courtyard.
The exterior has been restored, and the former office has a museum shop and a café. It
serves as the entrance to the Stained Glass Museum housed in the Takahashi

Warehouse.

Avrata Takichi (1877-1965) moved from Fukui Prefecture to Otaru at age 28, first
trading in marine products before moving into shipping. The Arata Trading Company
building served as the shipping company’s administration office. It was built on the

waterfront, on land newly reclaimed from the harbor.
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Former Hokkai Millet Company

The Hokkai Millet Company opened on Sakaimachi Street in 1907 and engaged in
consignment sales and trade of millet and other grains until they went out of business in
1931. The building was restored and repurposed in 2022 as a glass gallery, which offers

glass craft workshops.

The two-story building occupies a corner of Otaru’s busy Sakaimachi shopping street
and combines Japanese and European architectural styles. The shape is similar to a
typical wooden merchant house of the Edo period (1603-1867) but is clad in volcanic
stone. The external stonework of the building is carved with geometric designs, likely
influenced by the Renaissance Revival architecture popular in Europe in the late

nineteenth century.

It stands out from earlier buildings on the street for its udatsu firewalls at the front of
the building. These stone walls, capped with roof tiles, were designed to prevent fire
from spreading from one property to the next in cities where buildings were built close
together. The firewalls were adopted by property owners on Sakaimachi Street

following a fire in 1902 that destroyed many commercial buildings in the area.
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Former Otaru Chamber of Commerce and Industry

This former office of the Otaru Chamber of Commerce and Industry was built in Art
Deco style in 1933. The facade of the three-story reinforced concrete building is
covered in carved Chitose stone from Komatsu in Ishikawa Prefecture, prized for its
golden color. The portico entrance is covered with white marble from Tosa (present-day
Kochi Prefecture, on the island of Shikoku) and trimmed with patterned copper. The
quality of materials and the workmanship of the details reflects Otaru’s economic vigor
at the time. The building is now part of a hotel.

Local merchants and business people established a Chamber of Commerce in 1895 to
represent their interests as the volume of trade through Otaru increased in the late
nineteenth century. They celebrated the new association with a banquet for over 200
guests at Kaiyotei restaurant in 1897. Chamber of Commerce members petitioned the
local and national governments on issues including taxes on commercial buildings,
relocating railway lines, adding new roads and sea routes, and opening trade with
Russia and China. They also worked to attract new schools and financial institutions to
Otaru.

The Otaru Chamber of Commerce and Industry used the building until 2009, when they
moved to a more modern office. It was later sold to the OMOS5 Hotel and renovated as a

restaurant and lounge, keeping some of the original fittings and furnishings.
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JR Otaru Station: The Gateway to the Port City

Visitors arriving in Otaru by rail can see the harbor as soon as they come out of the
Otaru Station building. Chuo Street runs downhill from the station to the water, and
when strong westerly winds blow in winter, waves running along the breakwaters are
visible from the front of the station building. Passengers arriving at Otaru Station in the
early twentieth century would have seen dozens of sailing ships and steamships moored

in the harbor, with barges ferrying goods and passengers to shore.

New connections

Otaru Station opened in 1903 and the line to Hakodate, Hokkaido’s southernmost city,
opened a year later. Before Otaru Station was built, Minami-Otaru Station was the city’s
main station and connected to the coal-loading pier in the northern part of Otaru Port.

A modern station for a growing city
The current station building is made of steel-framed reinforced concrete and was
completed in 1934. The symmetrical Art Deco design of the entrance hall is typical of

large station buildings at the time.

A brass bell in front of the station entrance was rung to announce the imminent arrival
of each train, a tradition that continued until around 1965. There is still a bell in front of
the station, and it is a popular spot for taking photographs. Anyone is free to ring the
bell.

[lluminating the entrance hall

Natural light floods the entrance hall through six tall windows along the front of the
building, supplemented by the light of 333 glass lanterns donated by local glass
company Kitaichi Glass. Although they are powered by electricity today, they resemble
the original hand-blown glass oil lamps that the company began making in 1901.



Memories on Platform 4

Platform 4 looks much as it did in 1903, apart from some modifications made in 1934
and recent additions such as an escalator and additional lighting. The original steel
beams used for the roof frames and support pillars along the platforms were imported
from overseas. One of the pillars on Platform 4 is inscribed with the name “BV & Co
Ltd” and the date 1902. It was sourced from Bolckow, Vaughan & Co., Ltd in

Yorkshire, England, one of the world’s biggest steel producers at the time.

At the north end of the platform, a framed life-size image of popular actor Ishihara
Yujiro (1934-1987) commemorates his visit to Otaru to film a long-running television
drama. Although born in Kobe, he spent some of his childhood in Otaru and often
returned to visit. In the image, taken in 1978, he stands on Platform 4, known locally as

“Yujiro’s Platform.”
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JR Otaru Station: The Gateway to the Port City

Otaru Station opened in 1903 and the line to Hakodate, Hokkaido’s southernmost city,
opened a year later. Passengers arriving at Otaru in the early twentieth century would
have seen dozens of sailing ships and steamships moored in the harbor, with barges

ferrying goods to the shore.

The current station building is made of steel-framed reinforced concrete and was
completed in 1934. The symmetrical Art Deco design of the entrance hall is typical of

large station buildings at the time.

Natural light floods the entrance hall through six tall windows along the front of the
building, supplemented by the light of 333 glass lanterns donated by local glass
company Kitaichi Glass. Although they are powered by electricity today, they resemble

the original hand-blown glass oil lamps that the company began making in 1901.

Platform 4 looks much as it did in 1903, apart from some modifications made in 1934 and
recent additions such as an escalator and additional lighting. At the north end of the
platform, a framed life-size image of popular actor Ishihara Yujiro (1934-1987)
commemorates his visit to Otaru to film a long-running television drama. Although born
in Kobe, he spent some of his childhood in Otaru and often returned to visit. In the image,

taken in 1978, he stands on Platform 4, known locally as “Yujiro’s Platform.”
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Restaurants and Hotels in Otaru’s Golden Age

From the late nineteenth to early twentieth century, Hokkaido’s most opulent restaurants
and hotels were in Otaru. Starting as a fishing village in 1865, Otaru grew rapidly to a
bustling port town of around 60,000 by the turn of the century.

By the end of the nineteenth century, the annual herring catch in Otaru was close to 90,000
tons. The abundance of herring made fishermen and traders wealthy and brought an influx
of fortune seekers looking to make the most of the “herring gold rush.” Most of the herring
was made into fertilizer and was in demand for the production of cotton and indigo grown

in southwestern Honshu.

New wealth and leisure

Newly wealthy families built mansions in Otaru, importing the finest furnishings,
fashions, and building materials from Kyoto and ports along the Sea of Japan coast.
Restaurants and fine art stores catered to the rich, and inns and hotels opened to

accommodate merchants from the mainland and abroad.

Lavish entertainments

High-class restaurants opened to entertain wealthy merchants, fishermen, politicians, and
celebrities. They featured windows set with imported glass, gaslit chandeliers, decorative
features carved from exotic woods, and large banquet halls and performance spaces for
dance and music recitals. During the Taisho era (1912—-1926) some 600 geisha entertained
Otaru’s wealthy citizens at these exclusive establishments. As the economy slowed in the
mid-twentieth century, most of the restaurants closed down and merchant families moved
away. The few restaurants that remain, including the Kaiyotei and Kotei, are closed for

restoration or have been repurposed as private facilities.

The Kaiyotei opened near Sakaimachi Street between 1885 and 1890, hosting merchants,

politicians, and celebrities until it closed in 2015. The restaurant expanded in the Taisho



era, and the current structure consists of three connected wings built at different time
periods. The Kotei was a branch of a popular restaurant in Tokyo’s Shinjuku district that
opened in Otaru in the wealthy Shinonome-cho neighborhood in 1937. Otaru’s Kotei
accepted guests only by introduction and provided the services of geisha. It had tatami-
floored banquet rooms and a cypress-floored stage for dance and music performances.

Until the 1950s, there were at least five such restaurants in Shinonome-cho.

Luxurious accommodations

With the influx of merchants and foreign traders in the late nineteenth century and early
twentieth century, inns opened around the waterfront and near train stations in the city.
The Etchuya Hotel, which today operates as the Unwind Hotel, was Otaru’s first
European-style hotel. It was built in 1931 to accommodate the growing number of
overseas traders and merchants coming to Otaru. The hotel was an annex of the nearby
Etchuya Ryokan, a traditional inn founded in 1877. Although the inn had appeared in
English-language guidebooks since the early 1900s, the owners thought a modern luxury

hotel would be more appealing to international guests.
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Restaurants and Hotels in Otaru’s Golden Age

From the late nineteenth to early twentieth century, Hokkaido’s most luxurious
restaurants and hotels were in Otaru. They served wealthy fishermen and merchants who
had made their fortunes from the abundant shoals of herring that came to spawn off the

coast of Otaru each spring.

By the end of the nineteenth century, the annual herring catch was close to 90,000 tons,
and the “herring gold rush” brought an influx of workers, merchants, and fortune-seekers
to the city. Most of the herring was made into fertilizer and shipped to the cotton and

indigo fields in southwestern Honshu.

Restaurants and fine art stores catered to Otaru’s wealthy residents, and inns and hotels
opened to accommodate merchants from the mainland and abroad. During the Taisho era
(1912-1926), some 600 geisha entertained guests at Otaru’s exclusive ryofei restaurants.
Most of these restaurants were demolished as the economy slowed in the mid-twentieth

century. A few remain, including the Kaiyotei and the Kotei, but are closed to the public.

The Etchuya Hotel, which today operates as the Unwind Hotel, was Otaru’s first
European-style hotel. It was built in 1931 to accommodate the growing number of
overseas traders and merchants coming to Otaru. The hotel was an annex of the nearby
Etchuya Ryokan, whose owners thought a modern luxury hotel would be more appealing

to international guests.
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Former Kotei Restaurant

The steep streets of the Shinonome-cho district were once lined with the homes of Otaru’s
wealthy merchants. The Kotei Restaurant opened there in 1937 as a traditional place of
entertainment that accepted guests only by introduction and provided the services of
geisha. Such restaurants were typically used for important private business or political
meetings. A series of interconnected two-story buildings provided separate dining areas

and performance spaces.

The Kotei was a branch of a restaurant in Tokyo’s Shinjuku district. It was built in sukiya-
zukuri style with interior decoration based on the simple aesthetics of tea ceremony rooms.
The central building has a tea room on the first floor and a large tatami-floored hall above
for hosting parties. Adjoining the hall is a room with a cypress-floored stage for dance
and music performances. Until the 1950s, there were at least five such restaurants in the

area, and the sounds of shamisen and koto music were said to fill the air.

In the postwar years, Otaru’s importance as a trade port faded. Oil replaced coal as Japan’s
main source of energy, and herring fishing, which had built the fortunes of many
merchants and shipowners, collapsed due to overfishing. The Kotei was repurposed in
1957 as a private villa, and its architectural features have been preserved. The building is

not open to the public.
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Former Kaiyotei Restaurant

The Kaiyotei hosted wealthy merchants, politicians, and celebrities for almost 150 years.
The restaurant is believed to have opened in its present location near Sakaimachi Street
between 1885 and 1890. The restaurant was expanded in the Taisho era (1912—-1926), and
the current structure consists of three connected wings built at different times. The
banquet hall of the central building is the oldest part of the property and was likely rebuilt
after a fire in 1894.

The Kaiyotei reflected Otaru’s changing fortunes as a commercial port. Its first patrons
were newly wealthy merchant shipowners and fishermen enjoying their riches from the
herring trade. Some existing features reflect the prosperity of Otaru in the early twentieth
century, including windows set with imported glass, gaslit chandeliers, and decorative
pillars made of palm wood. One of the large banquet rooms was remodeled after World
War 11 for use as a club for the Occupation Forces. The restaurant remained in business

until 2015. The Kaiyotei is currently not open to the public.
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Former Etchuya Hotel

The Etchuya Hotel was Otaru’s first hotel built in European architectural style. It was
completed in 1931 to accommodate the growing number of overseas traders and
merchants coming to Otaru. In the early twentieth century, Otaru was the most prosperous
city in Hokkaido. When war broke out in Western Europe in 1914, grain, beans, sulfur,
and other commodities were shipped from Otaru to Europe, and this international trade

contributed to a building boom of banks, hotels, and restaurants.

The hotel was an annex of the Etchuya Ryokan, a traditional inn founded in 1877.
Although the inn had appeared in English-language guidebooks since the early 1900s, the
owners thought a modern luxury hotel would be more appealing to international guests.
After visiting European-style hotels in Kobe and Yokohama, they commissioned a four-
story building in Art Deco style, distinguished by two columns of bay windows down the
center of the facade. The triangle motif of the Etchuya Ryokan is repeated in stained glass

windows and carved on the stone lintel above the main entrance.

Ten years after it opened, the Etchuya Hotel was requisitioned by the Japanese army as
an officers’ club, then, at the end of World War 11, it was taken over by U.S. forces for
accommodations. After the American occupation ended in 1952, the building served as a
company dormitory for a time before it was reopened in 2019 as the Unwind Hotel. Many
of the original features have been preserved, including the front facade and some of the

stained-glass windows. The Etchuya Ryokan is still in business, on the same block.
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Otaru Canal

A paved walkway and gas lamps line the historic Otaru Canal. Warehouses that were built
to serve the trading port in the early twentieth century now house restaurants, stores, and
museums. This scenic corner of the city was made possible through dedicated local efforts

going back to the 1960s.

The canal is the result of a nine-year project started in 1914 to ease the transfer of goods
between the cargo ships anchored in the bay and the warehouses along the shore. Plans
to fill in the canal to make new roads in the 1960s led to a grassroots effort to preserve

Otaru’s cultural heritage.

A thriving frontier port

During the Meiji era (1868—1912), the port city grew rapidly through trade, the booming
herring industry, and migration. The annual herring catch in the waters around Otaru had
reached around 90,000 tons by the late 1880s. The port was crowded with merchant ships
bringing goods and provisions from Osaka and along the coast of the Sea of Japan, then
returning south laden with fertilizer made from herring. Many settlers from Honshu and
other parts of the country passed through Otaru under a government scheme that offered
land grants and financial assistance. Hokkaido’s first train line opened in 1880 to transport
coal from the inland Horonai Coal Mine to Otaru’s port area to be shipped across the

country to fuel Japan’s industrialization.

Building the canal

By the early twentieth century, Otaru was the largest commercial port in northern Japan.
The port had become congested and was running out of mooring space for the barges that
transferred goods and passengers from ship to shore. The solution was to reclaim a string
of narrow islands running parallel to the shore. That reclamation project ran from 1914 to
1923 and created a 40-meter-wide waterway between the islands and the shore. New

warehouses were built on the islands, which stretched about 1.3 kilometers and were



connected to the mainland by a series of bridges. The waterway provided warehouse
access and additional mooring space for the barges. It later became known as the Otaru

Canal.

Changing fortunes

Large cargo ships gradually replaced wooden sailing ships, and in 1937, a new wharf
allowed steamships to dock and unload without using barges, greatly diminishing the role
of the canal. Around the same time, the main source for the nation’s energy needs shifted
from coal to oil, and Otaru’s position as a key port for Hokkaido faded into history. The

canal became a graveyard for disused barges.

Symbol of Otaru renewal

In 1966, the local government proposed reclaiming the canal and demolishing the
warehouses to build a three-lane road and modernize the city. However, a group of
residents organized a movement in 1973 to save the canal and the historic townscape.
Grassroots preservation movements were unusual in Japan, and the residents’ efforts to
clean the canal and campaign for alternative solutions gained national attention. In the
1980s, the campaigners reached a compromise with the government. Part of the canal was
reclaimed to make a new road, and other sections were reduced to widen an existing road.
A paved walkway and gas lamps were installed along the canal and the warehouses were
restored to serve as restaurants, stores, and museums. The north side of Otaru Canal
remains much as it was, lined with small fishing vessels and cruise boats in place of the

barges that once helped build the city’s fortunes.
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Otaru Canal

A paved walkway and gas lamps line this historic canal, and former warehouses now
house restaurants, stores, and museums. Otaru Canal is both a reminder of the city’s
history as a vital trading port in the early twentieth century and a symbol of local

preservation efforts.

In the early twentieth century, Otaru was the largest commercial port in northern Japan.
Merchant ships brought goods and provisions from Honshu, then returned laden with
herring caught near Otaru. Barges plied the bay, ferrying goods and passengers between
the ships and shore. Coal was shipped across the country to fuel Japan’s industrial growth,

brought to Otaru via Hokkaido’s first train line, opened in 1882.

As trade through the port increased, the shoreline became congested with barges. From
1914 to 1923, a string of narrow islands were reclaimed parallel to the shore, with a 40-
meter-wide waterway between. The waterway provided additional mooring space for the

barges and later became known as the Otaru Canal.

Eventually, large cargo ships replaced wooden sailing ships, and in 1937, a new wharf
allowed ships to dock and unload without using barges. Around the same time, the main
source for the nation’s energy needs shifted from coal to oil, eroding Otaru’s position as

a major port. The canal fell into disuse.

When plans emerged to reclaim the canal and remove neighboring warehouses for road
expansion in 1966, local residents campaigned to save the area. After reaching a
compromise in the 1980s, much of the canal and surrounding warehouses were restored.
The north side of Otaru Canal remains much as it was, lined with small fishing vessels in

place of the barges that once helped build the city’s fortunes.
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The Okusawa Waterworks

Improving the water supply of Otaru became critical as the city developed rapidly in the
late nineteenth century. Otaru grew from a fishing village of around 2,000 people to a
booming port city of some 90,000 by the late nineteenth century. The number of ships
visiting the port also increased the demand for fresh water. In 1907, construction began
on the Okusawa Waterworks, consisting of the Okusawa Dam, Okusawa Water

Filtration Plant, and a stepped spillway on the Katsunai River in southeastern Otaru.

The waterworks is not open for tours, but visitors can stand on a bridge near the dam to
watch overflow water cascade down the wide, stone steps of the spillway. Each step is
shaped like a shallow basin to control the force and turbidity of the water. Long and
short stones are laid alternately along the edge of each step to slow and direct the water,
creating a draping effect. The stone steps and walls of the spillway were all laid by
hand.

The city commissioned civil engineer and scholar Nakajima Eiji (1858-1925) to direct
the construction of the dam and water purification plant. Nakajima studied sanitary
engineering and water supply construction in the United States and Europe before
working on water supply systems for the Imperial Palace in Tokyo. Most of the
construction on the dam and spillway was done by hand and, because of the cold climate

and heavy snow, it took almost seven years to complete.
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Warehouses along Otaru Canal

The warehouses lining Otaru Canal form some of the most iconic views of the city.
They were built on reclaimed land after the canal was completed in 1923. At that time,
the warehouses opened to the canal on one side, allowing convenient access for loading

and unloading cargo.

During World War 1 (1914-1918), the port was used for grain exports from Hokkaido to
Europe, and Otaru’s warehousing industry expanded rapidly. The former Naniwa
Warehouse located at the south end of the canal is one of the largest remaining
warehouses in Otaru. The timber-framed stone structure was built in 1925. In 2022, it
was repurposed as the House of Western Art, part of Otaru Art Base, five historical

buildings that are open to the public as museums and art galleries.

The former Shinoda Warehouse (now a restaurant) is one of few brick buildings along
the canal. It was completed in 1925 and used to store grain and imported goods. The
Shibusawa Warehouse next door was built the same year. The Shibusawa-soko-bu (later
named Shibusawa Warehouse Company) already owned several warehouses in Tokyo
and expanded into Otaru in 1915. The walls of several warehouses along the canal are

marked with the company’s logo, known as the ryugo, or “standing drum.”

Many warehouses stood empty in the 1960s and 1970s during Otaru’s economic
downturn. However, with the efforts of the Otaru Canal Preservation Association, the
canal and surrounding historical area were revived in the 1980s as a popular sightseeing
destination. Many of the warehouses were renovated and repurposed as restaurants,

shops, and museums.
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Former Naniwa Warehouse

The Naniwa Warehouse is located at the south end of Otaru Canal and is one of the
largest remaining warehouses in Otaru. The timber-framed stone structure was built in
1925, with over 2,644 square meters of open-plan space; it opened onto the canal for

convenient loading and unloading.

In 2022, the building was repurposed as the House of Western Art. It is part of Otaru
Art Base, five historical buildings that are open to the public as museums and art
galleries. The museum’s collection dates from Otaru’s heyday, featuring stained glass
windows, Art Nouveau and Art Deco glassware, furniture, porcelain, and other Western
art objects produced in Europe and the United States from the late nineteenth to the

early twentieth century.

Five rooms over two floors include collections of glass from well-known French artists,
including Emile Gallé (1846-1904), August Daum (1853-1909), Antonin Daum (1864—
1930), and René Lalique (1860-1945). One room is dedicated to ornate porcelain vases
and figurines from German manufacturer Meissen. In the largest room, collections of

furniture in Victorian, Art Nouveau, and Art Deco styles are arranged in room sets.

The warehouse was built by Naniwa, one of several warehouse companies founded
following the expansion of Japanese shipping in the late nineteenth century. Otaru
became one of Japan’s leading warehousing centers owing to a rapid increase in cargo

passing through the port from Japan, Russia, and Europe.

The Naniwa Warehouse Company was a subsidiary of the Suzuki Trading Company,
headed by Suzuki Yone (1852-1938), known at the end of World War I as “the richest
woman in Japan.” The company was a conglomerate with diverse interests, dealing in

sugar, camphor oil, flour, rice, real estate, steel, mining, and shipping. The Suzuki



Trading Company went bankrupt in 1927 as Japan, along with most of the world, slid

towards the Great Depression.
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Former Hokkai Seikan Otaru Factory No. 3 Warehouse

The Hokkai cannery and warehouses are located on a reclaimed island at the northern end
of the Otaru Canal and are symbols of Otaru's industrial heritage. Hokkai Seikan Otaru
Factory No. 3 Warehouse was built in 1924 for the Hokkaican Company a year after the
canal was completed. The warehouse operated until 2020, when the aging structure

became difficult to maintain.

Empty tin cans were stored at the warehouse for packing salmon and crab caught off the
coast of Russia’s Kamchatka Peninsula, north of Hokkaido. Tsutsumi Shokai (now the
Hokkaican Company) built its first cannery on the Kamchatka Peninsula in 1910, which
led to the development of industrial fishing in the Sea of Okhotsk, with large factory ships

moored off Kamchatka to process seafood for export.

Under the peace treaty following Japan’s victory in the Russo-Japanese War (1904—1905)
fishing rights were granted to Japanese fleets in the Sea of Okhotsk and along the coast
of Russia’s Kamchatka Peninsula. The agreement led to a boom in Japanese fisheries
moving into the area. Salmon canning peaked in 1937, with some 2.5 million cases of
canned salmon (each case held 48 cans) exported by steamship that year—almost 90

percent went to the United Kingdom.

Ample storage space was needed for the large volume of cans, and the four-story
warehouse was designed to maximize internal space. It has a total floor area of over 7,000-
square-meters, most of which was devoted to can storage. Workers used external
stairways and decks to move around the warehouse, and cans were transferred between

floors via external elevators and spiral chutes.

The warehouse was donated to Otaru City in 2021 and is sometimes open for tours and

music events. The exterior, with its distinctive spiral chutes, is illuminated at night.
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Moving Image Material at Otaru Museum

The prosperity of Otaru in the Taisho and early Showa eras (1912—1945) is evident in the
collection of home movies at Otaru Museum. Footage from more than 200 recordings
depicts scenes from daily life: ordinary citizens strolling the shopping streets of Otaru,
shoveling snow, hauling herring nets, and watching steam locomotives. The museum

shows selections from the archives.

Many of these scenes were filmed with a Pathé Baby movie camera, a relatively
inexpensive and easy-to-use amateur film system developed by the French film
equipment company Pathé in 1922. The compact, hand-cranked movie camera used
9.5mm film. It was smaller than a standard hardback novel and weighed just over half a

kilogram.

Camera shops in Otaru sold film, cameras, tripods, and projectors for showing home
movies, but most 9.5mm film would have needed to be sent to Yokohama for developing.
Filmmaking would have been an expensive hobby at the time, and the fact that some 200

films remain indicates the economic and cultural prosperity of the city.
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Nakamura Zensaku — Impressions of Otaru

The landscapes of Otaru have inspired many artists, and the works of Nakamura Zensaku
(1901-1983) in particular are associated with the city. Throughout his life, Nakamura
continued to paint the landscape of his hometown in a style characterized by vivid colors
and lively compositions. Otaru's distinct landscape of mountains and sea was a common

theme of his works.

The Nishiya family were shipowners who founded the first warehousing business in Otaru.
They recognized Nakamura's talent when he was in his early teens. After completing his
schooling, he worked for the family, studying art at night with a group of young artists at
the Otaru Western Painting Institute.

In 1924, as Nakamura was preparing to move to Tokyo to study art full-time, the Nishiyas
loaned him a villa for six months in the hills above Otaru, so that he could focus on
painting. In his twenties, Nakamura discovered the work of French Post-Impressionist
painter Paul Cézanne (1839-1906) and was inspired to paint Otaru’s landscapes using
similar broad brushstrokes and vivid colors. In 1925, his work was selected for the Nika-

ten Exhibition in Tokyo, one of Japan’s most prestigious competitive art exhibitions.

He returned to his hometown every year, capturing the city as it rapidly modernized, and
its natural environment changed. Many of Nakamura’s prewar works were destroyed
during the bombing of Tokyo in 1942, but a significant number are on display in the Otaru
City Museum of Art Nakamura Zensaku Memorial Hall.
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The Otaru Canal Preservation Association

The formation of the Otaru Canal Preservation Association in 1973 marked a turning
point in the city’s identity, transitioning Otaru from a fading commercial port to a
historical city that balances conservation and urban development. In the mid-1960s, a
proposal to reclaim Otaru Canal for a new road caused public outcry and led to an
influential preservation movement. Local efforts ultimately saved much of the canal and
prompted discussions at a national level about how preserving urban heritage can
revitalize communities. A collection of posters, banners, news articles, and other

paraphernalia generated by the movement are periodically displayed at the Otaru Museum.

City in decline

During wartime, government regulations shifted the focus of economic activity in
Hokkaido to Sapporo. The banks that had once earned Otaru its reputation as the
economic center of Hokkaido began to withdraw. Around the same time, the main source
for the nation’s energy needs shifted from coal to oil, and Otaru subsequently lost its
status as a major coal shipping port. Other ports along the southeast coast of Hokkaido
provided more convenient shipping routes to Tokyo, and road and rail transport eventually
surpassed shipping for cargo transportation. Otaru’s economy stagnated, and by the mid-

1950s it was known as a “city in decline.”

Grassroots preservation efforts

The barges that once plied the Otaru Canal were slowly decaying, and silt accumulated
in the unused waterways; the old warehouse buildings remained standing only for a lack
of money or incentive to tear them down. In 1966, in an effort to boost the economy, the
local government proposed a new six-lane road to ease congestion and improve truck
access to the port. The Otaru Canal Landfill Project proposed filling in the canal and
demolishing the surrounding warehouses. This galvanized a group of residents to form
the Otaru Canal Preservation Association. Across the city, shops, cafés, and restaurants

displayed posters that highlighted the architectural and cultural heritage that could be lost



and positioned Otaru Canal as an intrinsic part of Otaru’s identity.

Changing fortunes

The efforts of the Association failed to gain traction at first: the local government was
unwilling to compromise and gaining support for preservation based solely on the canal
as a nostalgic symbol was largely unsuccessful. However, in the late 1970s, new members
with fresh ideas joined the campaign and developed a plan to revitalize the city through
tourism, using the canal and stone-clad warehouses as the main assets. This won the
support of local businesses and received widespread media attention. It became a
community campaign to develop Otaru’s economy. In the early 1980s, the government
agreed on a plan to narrow some sections of the canal to make way for the planned road,
while adding attractive walkways and street lights to the remaining parts. Now, tourism
far outstrips freight as the driver of the local economy. Otaru’s preservation movement

saved much more than a canal.
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Fujimori Shigeo — Artist and Advocate

Fujimori Shigeo (1936—1987) was an activist supporting preservation of the Otaru Canal,
using art to draw attention to the canal and surrounding warehouses during the city’s
economic decline. In his commercial work, Fujimori designed signage and posters, but in
the mid-1960s he turned to painting and sketching to support community preservation

efforts, creating over 150 landscape paintings of the canal and warehouses in his lifetime.

At the height of Otaru’s economic vigor in the 1920s and 1930s, artists were drawn to
Otaru Canal to capture bustling scenes of barges plying the waters and porters unloading
cargo. Even in its decline, some artists found a certain bleak beauty in the scenery of
decaying barges, disused buildings, and the muddy canal. The Otaru City Museum of Art

has numerous canal paintings by local artists in its collection.

Fujimori served as executive director of the Otaru Canal Preservation Movement for
several years and was instrumental in planning events to revitalize the city. In the mid-
1960s, he helped launch the Otaru Ushio Festival (Otaru Tide Festival). The annual event
runs over three days each July and now attracts around a million visitors with fireworks,

music, and a parade of almost 10,000 dancers through the city streets.

One of Fujimori’s last works, Red Canal, was painted in 1985 when workers began to
reclaim part of the canal for a new road. Fujimori wanted to preserve the entire canal and

is said to have expressed his frustration by covering the image in a wash of red ink.
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Memories of Otaru — The Hyogo Photograph Collection

Some 5,000 photographs taken between 1975 and 1980 depict Otaru as a city in decline.
After the 1950s, other ports on Hokkaido’s east coast offered more convenient shipping
routes to Tokyo, and the main source for the nation’s energy needs switched from coal,
once shipped from Otaru, to oil. Banks and businesses moved to Hokkaido’s capital,
Sapporo. Against this backdrop, Hyogo Katsundo (1942-2004), a professional
photographer from Sapporo, took thousands of photographs of the city, recording

decaying barges, faded signage, narrow back alleys, and quiet shopping streets.

This collection of photographs is a rare record of Otaru before revitalization efforts began
in the 1980s. The works stand in stark contrast to the restored warchouses, elegant
streetlamps, and attractive landscaping of the city today. Hyogo bequeathed the collection
to the Otaru Museum of History and Nature, where a changing selection of the

photographs is on display.
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“For if it is rash to walk into a lion’s den unarmed, rash to navigate the Atlantic
in a rowing boat, rash to stand on one foot on top of St. Paul’s, it is still more
rash to go home alone with a poet.” (Virginia Woolf, Orlando)

MX7 v Do A
(#9]: Yu Mincho)

" For if it is rash to walk into a lion ' s den unarmed, rash to navigate the
Atlantic in a rowing boat, rash to stand on one foot on top of St. Paul ' s, itis
still more rash to go home alone with a poet. " (Virginia Woolf, Orlando)
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“The habitual use of the active voice makes for forcible writing. This is true not
only in narrative principally concerned with action, but in writing of any kind.
Many a tame sentence of description or exposition can be made lively and
emphatic by substituting a verb in the active voice for some such perfunctory
expression as there is, or could be heard.” (William Strunk, The Elements of

Style)
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“The habitual use of the active voice makes for forcible writing.
This is true not only in narrative principally concerned with action,
but in writing of any kind. Many a tame sentence of description
or exposition can be made lively and emphatic by substituting a
verb in the active voice for some such perfunctory expression as
there is, or could be heard.” (William Strunk, The Elements of Style)
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Lorem Ipsum

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit, sed do eiusmod
tempor incididunt ut labore et dolore magna aliqua. Ut enim ad minim
veniam, quis nostrud exercitation ullamco laboris nisi ut aliquip ex ea
commodo consequat.

Duis aute irure dolor in reprehenderit in voluptate velit esse cillum dolore
eu fugiat nulla pariatur. Excepteur sint occaecat cupidatat non proident, sunt
in culpa qui officia deserunt mollit anim id est laborum.

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit, sed do eiusmod
tempor incididunt ut labore et dolore magna aliqua. Ut enim ad minim



veniam, quis nostrud exercitation ullamco laboris nisi ut aliquip ex ea
commodo consequat.
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Lorem Ipsum

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit, sed do eiusmod
tempor incididunt ut labore et dolore magna aliqua. Ut enim ad minim
veniam, quis nostrud exercitation ullamco laboris nisi ut aliquip ex ea
commodo consequat.

Duis aute irure dolor in reprehenderit in voluptate velit esse cillum dolore eu
fugiat nulla pariatur. Excepteur sint occaecat cupidatat non proident, sunt in
culpa qui officia deserunt mollit anim id est laborum.

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit, sed do eiusmod
tempor incididunt ut labore et dolore magna aliqua. Ut enim ad minim
veniam, quis nostrud exercitation ullamco laboris nisi ut aliquip ex ea
commodo consequat.
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